1959

## Leon E. Mayer v. Wayne D. Criddle : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This cause is before this Court as an intermediate appeal or on appeal from an interlocutory order made and entered by the Fifth District Court of the State of Utah, in and for Iron County, involving a well and underground

water right of the appellant, Leo E. Mayer.

As indicated by the title of the case, a proceeding was originally initiated as a general adjudication of all of the rights to the use of water in the Escalante Valley Drainage Area in Utah, which includes the Milford Underground Water basin immediately south of the City of Milford in Beaver County.

After complying with the provisions of *Chapter 4 of Title 73, Utah Code Annotated, 1953*, and after completion of a hydrographic survey of the area, the State Engineer on or about the 1st day of April, 1949, served and filed in the District Court of Iron County his proposed Determination of water in said area.

In the due course of said general adjudication proceedings, and on or about the 17th day of March, 1936, the predecessor in interest of this appellant, one Fred W. O'Leary, then the owner of said premises, filed an underground water claim in the office of the State Engineer of the State of Utah, and which claim was assigned a number, to-wit, No. 10150; that thereafter and on or about the 27th day of May, 1947, the said O'Leary filed a statement of water user's claim in this proceeding as required by statute, and said statement of claim was by the Clerk of the District Court assigned a number, to-wit, No. 1420; thereafter, by the said proposed determination the claim was allowed for the irrigation of five acres of land, to-

gether with a stock-watering and domestic use;

After the proposed determination was made available to the various water users and the said O'Leary was then advised that his water right was so limited, and on or about the 15th day of October, 1950, upon an order of the District Court permitting him so to do, the said O'Leary duly filed an amended underground water claim and an amended water user's claim, together with his objection and protest to the disallowance of his well and underground water right in excess of five acres. In his protest he claimed that he was the owner of an eighty acre tract of land; that the original underground water claim as filed stated that five acres of land were irrigated in the year 1933, but gives no further statement concerning the irrigation of any acreage excepting the statement "this well was used for irrigating natural grass pasture and watering farm stock each summer since 1928, excepting 1935"; that in the proposed determination he was limited to the use of water from the well for irrigation purpose to five acres, and that he was informed and believes that such limitation was made because of the information set forth in the original underground water claim; and in furnishing the data concerning the number of acres irrigated from his well, he was under the impression that he should set forth the number of acres previously *planted* to crops and irrigated for the purpose of raising crops, and the information furnished the State Engineer was

limited accordingly; that in truth and in fact, commencing with the year 1928 and up to and including the year 1935, he irrigated with waters from the said well and upon his land thirty-five acres of land for the purpose of pasturage and raising forage for stock grazing purposes and in addition during the year 1933 he planted five acres of grain and irrigated the same; that the water was being beneficially used by the irrigation of native grasses and other forage; that the flow of said well was 450 gallons per minute (Tr. 16-23).

The State Engineer filed a reply to the objections and protest admitting that he had limited the use of waters from the well to five acres and pleading further "that the State Engineer lacks any information upon which to base an admission or denial of the remaining facts alleged in paragraph two," which paragraph alleges the irrigation of thirty-five acres of pasture land together with the five acres planted to grain, and alleges the reasons why the original underground water claim mentioned five acres.

After the filing of the protest and before the hearing thereon, this appellant, Leo E. Mayer, purchased the said premises and water rights from O'Leary, and ever since has been and now is the owner thereof.

Thereafter, a hearing was duly held by the District Court on the said protest, after which the Court made and entered its findings of fact and conclusions of law and

an interlocutory order (Tr. 24-26) denying the protest of this appellant.

A petition for interlocutory appeal from said order was filed in accordance with and as provided by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (Tr. 29-35) and which appeal was duly allowed and granted by order of said Court (Tr. 27).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the following statement of facts it is not deemed necessary to re-state those which are incorporated in the foregoing statement of the case, many of which are taken almost bodily from the trial court's findings and conclusions (Tr. 24-26).

While the State Engineer and the claimant and appellant herein differ as to the correctness of the court's conclusions of law and the interlocutory order based thereon, there is little, if any, controversy concerning the facts.

The said findings of fact, the pertinent portions of which, insofar as this controversy is concerned, are briefly as follows:

1. That on or about the 28th day of May, 1948, the claimant, Fred W. O'Leary, filed a statement of water user's claim in this proceedings and said statement of claim was assigned No. 1420, and thereafter and on or about the 21st day of October, 1950, leave of court first



having been had and obtained, the said claimant filed an amended water user's claim; and that the said Proposed Determination limited the use of water under said water user's claim to the irrigation of five acres and for incidental domestic and stock-watering purposes.

2. That said Claim No. 1420 was based upon Underground Water Claim No. 10150, which claimed a right to irrigate from a well drilled during the year 1928 with a flow of 350 gallons per minute; and that said Claim No. 10150, as amended, now claims and contends that the protestant, in addition to the five acres awarded, used water on 35 acres for the purpose of pasturage and the raising of forage for stock-watering purposes (Tr. 25).

3. That during the years 1928 to 1934, inclusive, the well in question was equipped with a three-inch centrifugal pump with a 6 horsepower gasoline motor; that during the said period the quantity of water pumped was approximately 120 gallons per minute when the pump was in operation; and that, prior to March 22, 1935, the maximum acreage brought under cultivation and irrigated from the said well was five acres (Tr. 25).

From the foregoing findings of fact the trial court concluded:

1. That the evidence fails to show any additional use by claimant prior to March 22, 1935, other than as allowed by the State Engineer in said Proposed Determination of

## Water Rights (Tr. 25).

2. That the action of the State Engineer should be approved and confirmed and the protest of the claimant should be denied (Tr. 26).

Thereupon the interlocutory order appealed from was made and entered by the trial court (Tr. 27), disallowing the said protest which in effect limits the right of the appellant to irrigate more than five acres of land.

A very short hearing was held before the trial court on June 9, 1954, and a transcript thereof is made a part of the record on this appeal (Tr. 1-15).

Testimony was given at the hearing by Fred W. O'Leary, the owner of the premises at the time the underground water user's claim was filed, concerning the use of the ground and water thereon for a number of years prior to 1927 or 1928 until 1934 or 1935 and within his personal knowledge. Testimony was also given by the claimant, present owner of the ground, concerning the kind of land, the well thereon, evidence of ditches conveying water to the land when he purchased it in 1950, and the benefits to be derived from irrigation. The evidence is uncontradicted, uncontroverted, positive and unimpeached.

## STATEMENT OF ERRORS DELIED ON

1. The trial court error in concluding that the evidence

fails to show any additional use by the claimant prior to March 22, 1935, other than as allowed by the State Engineer in his Proposed Determination.

2. The trial court erred in making and entering its interlocutory order denying the claim and protest of appellant, which order has the effect of depriving appellant of any right to use water from said well for irrigation in excess of five acres.

## ARGUMENT

The above statement specifies two errors which in substance and effect are but one; and the sole question to be decided by this Honorable Court is simply this:

Are the trial court's conclusions of law supported by the record?

Appellant contends not.

The findings pertinent to the controversy now before this Court are very short.

Findings Nos. 3 and 4 (Tr. 25) are merely recitals of the fact that Fred W. O'Leary filed a statement of water user's claim and thereafter filed an amended water user's claim, and that the water user's claim was based upon an underground water claim which claimed a right to irrigate from a well drilled in 1928; that the claim as amended contends that the claimant, in addition to the five-acre

water right awarded, used water on 35 acres for the purpose of pasturage and the raising of forage for stock-grazing purposes.

Finding No. 5 (Tr. 25) is the finding upon which the conclusions of law are based, and even though it has been set forth heretofore in this brief, for the purpose of emphasis we quote it again, to-wit:

“That during the years 1928 to 1934, inclusive, the well in question was equipped with a three-inch centrifugal pump with a 6 horsepower gasoline motor; that during said period the quantity of water pumped was approximately 120 gallons per minute when the pump was in operation; and that prior to March 22, 1935, the maximum acreage under cultivation and irrigated from the said well was five acres.”

It is impossible to determine from this short finding whether the trial court predicated his conclusions on the theory that water used solely for irrigation of pasturage and to raise forage for stockgrazing purposes is not a beneficial use, or on a conclusion that the evidence “failed to show any additional use (over and above five acres)” for any irrigation purposes whatsoever.”

Because of the uncertainty of the theory or legal principle upon which the Finding No. 5, and the conclusions were based, we will treat the two problems separately.

## THE IRRIGATION OF PASTURE LAND IS A BENEFICIAL USE

Mr. O'Leary testified that he came to the Milford Flat in 1926 and that his occupation while there was farming; that he commenced farming the  $W\frac{1}{2}SE\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 35, Tp. 28 S., R. 11 W., S.L.M., which is involved in this case, in 1927 and that he farmed it for ten years or until 1937; that he purchased the land in 1934 (after farming it for some seven or eight years); that when he commenced to farm the land there was a well on it equipped with perforated casing and a three-inch centrifugal pump and a 6 horsepower gasoline engine; that either in 1927 or 1928 water was being pumped out of the well and was used to irrigate five acres of oats, and the balance of the time water was run on the north pasture or approximately thirty acres of grass land; that the pasturage was used for grazing sheep; that the ground was in natural grass, which land was about a mile and a half from "Hay Springs" which are actual springs of water; that he had what was called his Hay Springs ditch, and that he plowed ditches running from that into a new furrow each time; that by means of this irrigation system water was carried from the well and water was run out and flooded over the ground; that such manner of irrigation was the best type of irrigation because with natural grasses the water got down to the roots, but if corrugated it would tear out most of the grass; that in 1935 the pump was removed from the

ground and up until then from 1928 he continued to irrigate the ground in the manner above described (Tr. 3-6).

The underground water claim, as originally filed in 1936, in answer to the question "Acres of land irrigated first year, he answered 'none'." Then in answer to the balance of the question "Acres irrigated each year thereafter with dates, he answered '1933—5 acres'."

Then under general remarks he stated: "This well was used for irrigating natural grass pasture and watering farm stock each summer since 1928, excepting 1935. The pump is not installed on this well at the present date, removed in May, 1935."

When interrogated concerning his statement of five acres irrigated Mr. O'Leary stated it was his understanding that the question called for ground that had been plowed and put into producing crops, that is, cultivated and plowed rather than pasture land. He testified also that without irrigation the pasture would not have produced nearly as much by way of crops and forage. The capacity of the well was one second foot or more (Tr. 6-9).

He testified further that he put more water on the pasture land than on the row crops because such land needs more water; that water was actually applied every year that he was on the ground; that the well was pumped during the entire irrigation season, continuously from the time the season commenced until it concluded (Tr. 8-10).

Mr. Leo E. Mayer, the present owner of the land, testified that he has resided in Milford since 1945; that he purchased the land and water rights in the fall of 1950 and has been in the possession of the land since then; that the eighty-acre tract has about fifty-five acres of natural pasture ground which could be watered efficiently; that the land is summer grazing native pasture land and that it is very good pasture land; that there is no comparison between the land with and without irrigation, and that without water the land would produce only fifteen or twenty percent as with irrigation; that when he purchased the land in 1950 there was evidence on the ground of an irrigation system of ditches, canals or laterals conveying water for irrigation of the pasturage and that the water was obtained from the well on the ground; that there was evidence that water had been conveyed from the well on the 35 acres as well as the five acres that had been planted to crops (Tr. 10-12).

The underground water claim originally prepared by O'Leary was prepared entirely by himself and it is very obvious upon an examination of the claim now on file in and a part of the records of the State Engineer's Office, that when he stated five acres had been irrigated each year after the first year (1927 or 1928) and each year thereafter, he had in mind and so understood the question called for five acres actually planted to crops and under cultivation as such, because under "general remarks" he went

on to state: "This well used for irrigating natural grass pasture." There can be no dispute or question about the fact that there was five acres of oats planted on the ground and of course the five acres mentioned in the underground water claim could refer to no acreage other than the five acres planted to oats.

It is quite obvious also that when the State Engineer formulated his proposed determination he limited the water claim to the five acres claimed, and disregarded the irrigation of the natural grass pasture because no specific acreage had been set forth.

The State Engineer did not introduce any evidence whatsoever to refute the testimony of either O'Leary or Mayer, either by attempting to show the premises could not have been or were not adapted for use as pasturage, or that ditches running into the pasturage lands were not in evidence, or from testimony of others who had lived in the vicinity showing no irrigation of pasture lands.

The State Engineer apparently was satisfied to stand on his answer to the protest which sets forth he was without information upon which to base either an admission or denial of the facts contended for by the claimant, and at the hearing no attempt whatsoever was made by the State Engineer either to impeach the testimony given by claimant and his witness O'Leary or in any way to contradict such testimony.



At the conclusion of taking testimony at the hearing it was stipulated that the court might view the premises and consider the view in connection with the evidence (Tr. 13). If there was anything about the premises, when viewed by the court, that would impeach or contradict the witnesses or contravert any of the testimony the court failed to make any findings thereon and appellant is without any information or knowledge of how or in what manner the viewing of the premises was considered as evidence, or if considered as evidence at all. The only finding having to do with a determination of the problem now before this Court is finding No. 5 (Tr. 25) which finds that during the years 1928 to 1934 inclusive, the well was equipped with a three-inch centrifugal pump with a 6 horsepower gasoline motor; and that during such period the quantity of water pumped was approximately 120 gallons per minute when the pump was in operation and that prior to March 22, 1935, the maximum acreage brought under cultivation and irrigated from the well was five acres. As a matter of fact the underground water claim shows a *minimum* use of 120 gallons per minute and a *maximum* of 350 gallons per minute and the testimony of O'Leary was that the well flowed one second foot. Just how the court determined that the minimum flow of 120 gallons, and not the maximum flow of 350 gallons was the amount actually pumped is quite a mystery. It was not contended by claimant that more than five acres was

*brought under cultivation*, but it was and is claimed that thirty-five additional acres of natural grass and forage were irrigated, and the court has made no finding whatsoever that such was not the case. And because there is no finding whatsoever by the court that the land was not susceptible of irrigation or the raising of natural wild grasses and forage, that he found no evidence of an irrigation system or ditches and laterals, that any irrigation of the premises could not be considered as beneficial in any way, etc., claimant contends there is no finding upon which to base or to support the conclusion of law. We believe also that even though such a finding was made there would be no evidence to support it and that all of the evidence, being unimpeached and uncontradicted is to the contrary.

‡73-3-1, *U C A 1953*. The appropriation must be for some useful and beneficial purpose.

The law permits the appropriation of water only for some beneficial use or purpose. Hence it follows that water can only be appropriated for that purpose when it assists in the raising of some useful crop. This need not necessarily be what is known as a *cultivated crop*, but the watering of land to produce hay and grass for the feeding of stock is sufficient to come within the rule. ‡693, 2nd Ed. Vol. 2, page 1197, *Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights*.

Where one constructs a ditch and conducts water upon his land, year after year, and permits the same to spread out over wild hay land for the purpose of making hay or using such land for pas-

ture, he thereby secures the right to the use of sufficient water to irrigate such land, provided the amount of water so used is sufficient for that purpose; *such use being a beneficial use.*" *Pyke vs. Burnside, et al.*, 69 Pac. 477 (Ida.).

"Where by irrigation an appropriator increased the amount of grass for pasture, such use of the water was a useful and beneficial use within Civ Code §1881, limiting appropriations to such purposes." *Sayre vs. Johnson*, 81 Pac. 389 (Mont.) quoting 'In this case it was contended that the respondent's use of the water was not a useful and beneficial one within the meaning of those terms as employed in §1881 of the Civil Code, at least insofar as the water is used upon his homestead which is devoted to grazing purposes. But the evidence shows that by irrigation the amount of grass for pasture is greatly increased. If respondent should cut grass for hay it would hardly be contended that the use of water was not then beneficial; and if so, it can hardly be that the question whether the use is a beneficial one can be made to depend upon the particular manner in which respondent feeds the grass procured by the irrigation.'

To support his contention that Spencer was not making a beneficial use of water the relator relies upon the testimony of Robbins that the water was flowing onto pasture land which probably "might be good hay land if it was irrigated right." The irrigation of pasture land is a beneficial use. *State ex rel Silve vs. District Court*, 69 Pac. 2nd 972.

"The first commandment relating to the water policy of this state is to use the water to the utmost. By that I do not mean that it must serve the most valuable or the highest possible use. That is an-

other matter. The second commandment, a corollary of the first, is that beneficial use is the basis, measure and limit of the use. Beneficial use does not mean the highest beneficial use. If there is a hierarchy of values in beneficial uses, the higher may be compelled to condemn the lower if the lower is prior in time. The third commandment, a corollary of the second and like unto it is: Thou shalt not waste water." *Judge Wolfe—in Hanson vs. S.L.C.*, 205 Pac. 2nd 255 at page 270.

In the case of *Riordan vs. Westwood*, in Pac. 2nd 203, at page 930 Justice Wade in a prevailing opinion states "It is clear that a part of the water in question produces a beneficial plant life thereon, *even though very limited.*" At page 925 it is said the water in question supported the growing of a few brush, some small patches of native grass and a few scrubby cottonwood trees. The application to appropriate that water was ordered approved, although the trial court sustained the rejection. In a part dissent Justice Lattimer states: "Had plaintiff ever attempted to use the water to improve *the fertility of the soil or to grow grass or vegetation for meadow purposes*, to use it for subterranean irrigation for products of the soil, or to use it for any other well recognized purpose, then I would believe plaintiff had acquired some rights."

It is common knowledge that throughout the State of Utah it has been recognized by the office of the State Engineer and by the Courts, that water can be and has been appropriated and used for the purpose of increasing the

growth of natural grasses and forage, and for the feeding of such growth to livestock by grazing the livestock, including cattle and sheep, upon such lands. Such lands sometimes have been called meadow lands and sometimes pasture lands and sometimes grazing lands. It is common knowledge also that the appropriation of water has never been limited to irrigation of crops planted upon the premises after plowing and clearing such premises of natural grasses and forage and re-planting the same to alfalfa, row crops, grain, etc.

#### TESTIMONY OF UNIMPEACHED WITNESS MAY NOT BE ARBITRARILY DISREGARDED

It is the contention of claimant that Fred W. O'Leary, previous owner of the premises, is a credible witness; that he had no interest in the premises at the time of the hearing and the giving of his testimony; that his testimony is unimpeached, uncontroverted and uncontradicted in any manner whatsoever. It is the contention of claimant likewise that his testimony remains unimpeached and uncontradicted as to the kind and type of land involved, that better pasture and forage could be had by irrigation over and upon the land, that without water the land would not produce more than fifteen or twenty percent of the amount of pasturage than with water; that when he purchased the land in 1950 there was evidence on the ground of an irrigation system of ditches, canals or laterals conveying

water for irrigation to the pasture land and evidence that water had been conveyed from the well to such pasture land.

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