1960

## Leon E. Mayer v. Wayne D. Criddle : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE PROPOSED DETERMINATION OF WATER RIGHTS AS PRESENTED BY THE STATE ENGINEER IN THIS MATTER WAS CLEAR AND CONVINCING PROOF OF THE FACT THAT THE WELL IN QUESTION WAS NOT USED FOR THE IRRIGATION OF MORE THAN FIVE ACRES PRIOR TO MARCH 22, 1935, AND FORMED THE BASIS FOR AND FULLY SUPPORTED THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT.

It is our position that there is no uncertainty of theory or of legal principle upon which the findings and conclusions of law were based in the lower court. We contend that the findings were predicated on the theory that claimant failed to establish that he had used the water from the well in question on any land but the five acres awarded in the proposed determination. The whole tenor of the testimony of appellant and one O'Leary was directed to the point of trying to establish use on an amount of acreage exceeding the five acres which was previously claimed. We agree with appellant that irrigation of pasture land may be considered a beneficial use. However, before deciding whether there was beneficial use made of water, the court must first decide whether there was use of the water at all. The burden is upon the party asserting his right to the use of a particular source of water to prove that he is entitled to this right. The

Supreme Court of the State of Utah, in the case of *Hardy v. Beaver County Irrigation Company*, 65 Utah 28, 234 Pac. 524, which was an action concerning the determination of water rights, stated:

“Claimants in actions to determine water rights, must prove extent and amount of their appropriation with definiteness and certainty.”

We contend and will point out in the following argument that the claimant in this case did not meet this burden of proof. The testimony of appellant and O’Leary was not disregarded by the lower court, but was contradicted by the evidence supplied by the State Engineer and this latter evidence was sufficient proof upon which the court could base its finding. The State Engineer made surveys and collected facts in the Escalante Valley Drainage Area, as is his statutory duty in general adjudication actions, in accord with Section 73-4-11, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The information thus gathered was assembled into a report and submitted to the District Court in the form of a proposed determination. When the hearing was held in the District Court at Beaver, Utah, the court had before it not only the testimony of appellant and O’Leary, but also the proposed determination prepared by the State Engineer.

It is our contention that the proposed determination was evidence in this controversy and that the lower court was not only entitled to take it into consideration in the determination of the lawsuit, but was required to consider the report of the State Engineer and weigh it against the other evidence presented. 20 Am. Jur., Sec. 1023, on p. 861, states:

“It is a well recognized general rule that official records and written reports of a public nature which public officers are required, either by statute or by the nature of the duties of their office, to keep of transactions occurring in the course of their public service, made either by the officers themselves or under their supervision are recorded therein, so far as they are relevant and material to the particular inquiry, although the entries have not been testified to by the persons who actually made them and although they have, therefore, not been offered for cross-examination.”

The United States Supreme Court, in a case involving the determination of water rights, *Pacific Livestock Company v. Oregon Water Board*, 241 U. S. 440, 36 S. Ct. 637, 60 L. Ed. 1084, at page 453 of the United States Reporter, articulated the rule that the State Engineer's report is competent evidence :

“And while it is true that the State Engineer's report is accepted as evidence, although not sworn to by him, it is also true that the measurements and examinations shown therein are made and reported in the discharge of his official duties and under the sanction of his oath of office, and that timely notice of the date when they are to begin is given to all claimants. The report becomes a public document accessible to all and is accepted as *prima facie* evidence, but not as conclusive.”

The Utah Supreme Court has stated, in *Garrison, State Engineer v. Davis, et al.*, 88 Utah 358, 54 P. 2d 439, on page 367 of the Utah Reporter, in referring to the weight which shall be given to evidence furnished by the State Engineer in actions of this nature, that :

“While it may be that the trial court was not bound to accept such recommendation, still, in light of the fact that the State Engineer collected the information which formed the basis of the decree, the recommendation of the State Engineer was entitled to great weight.”

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has also declared, that in actions concerning the general adjudication of water rights, the reports of the State Engineer constitute competent and prima facie evidence. *Smith v. District Court, etc.*, 69 Utah 493, 256 Pac. 539, and *Plain City Irrigation Company v. Hooper Irrigation Company, et al.*, 87 Utah 545, 51 P. 2d 1069. In this latter case on page 559 of the Utah Reporter, the court used the following language in setting out this proposition:

“The statements filed by the claimants shall take the place of pleadings, and these statements with other information gathered, the maps, records, and reports of the State Engineer, or others appointed by the court, shall be competent and prima facie evidence of the facts.”

Appellant's claim to a water right is predicated not only upon the testimony of the witnesses in the lower court but also upon Underground Water Claim No. 10150. This underground water claim was filed in accordance with Section 73-5-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which has since been repealed by the 1959 Legislature. Although the statute provided for amendment to an underground water claim previously filed, we urge that such amendment should be limited to amendments made when the claim in question is not involved in litigation. The facts in the present controversy show that Underground Water Claim

No. 10150 was originally filed March 17, 1936, and the claimant filed Water Users Claim No. 1420 on May 26, 1947, basing it upon the original underground water claim. If there had been a mistake in the original claim, we believe the 11 years which lapsed before the filing of Water Users Claim No. 1420 was more than ample time in which to discover and to correct any mistake. However, the water user waited until the proposed determination had been submitted to the court, April 1, 1949, and then in 1950 he amended Underground Water Claim No. 10150, claiming he was entitled to irrigate seven times the original amount of acreage which he claimed at the outset. This is an error of such magnitude that we cannot conceive that a person could go from 1936 until 1950 before discovering that he had made the error.

We further content that the claims filed by the water users are only evidence to be taken into consideration by the State Engineer in formulating the proposed determination. This appears to be the intent of the Legislature in Section 73-4-11, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which deals with the report and recommendations of the State Engineer:

“After full consideration of the statements of claims and of the surveys, records, and files, and after a personal examination of the river systems or water source involved, if such examination is deemed necessary, the State Engineer shall formulate a report and a proposed determination of all rights to the use of the water of such river system or water source and a copy of the same shall be mailed by regular mail to each claimant, with notice that any claimant dissatisfied therewith may within ninety days from such date of mailing file

with the clerk of the district court a written objection thereto duly verified on oath.”

Section 73-4-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, referring to pleading in general adjudication action, states in part :

“The statements filed by the claimants shall stand in the place of pleadings, and issues may be made thereon. \* \* \* and in all proceedings for the determination of the rights of claimants to the water of a river system or water source the filed statements of the claimants shall be competent evidence of the facts stated therein *unless the same are put in issue.*” (Emphasis supplied)

We urge that when the appellant claimed more water than was allowed in the proposed determination that an issue was formed and the court was to determine by the same rules of evidence as in any other case whether to allow the claim.

In *Huntsville Irrigation Association, et al. v. District Court of Weber County, et al.*, 72 Utah 431, 270 Pac. 1089, Chief Justice Thurman, speaking for the court in interpreting the predecessor of the present statute, Section 73-4-14, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, stated :

“The statute, as before stated, provides that the claims filed by the claimants shall stand in the place of pleadings and issues may be made thereon. As we interpret that provision, if one claim conflicts with another, there is an issue to be determined. One claimant by claiming too much water may be an adverse party to every other claimant in the system. He may be adverse to only a part. In any event an issue is presented which should be tried by the court by the same rules of evidence and the same orderly procedure

as in other cases. The protests filed by the plaintiffs here in the Plain City case are claims as well as protests and constitute pleadings within the meaning of the statute. They present an issue to every other claimant in the system who disputes the plaintiffs' claims. The statute provides that pleadings may be amended. Every facility seems to have been provided for a thorough adjudication of the rights of each claimant as against every other claimant as well as against the state. There is nothing in any previous decision of this court involving this statute in conflict with these views."

Therefore, the evidence presented by both parties was submitted to the court to determine whether there should be an amendment to the proposed determination. Neither party was limited in its presentation of evidence and the issue was framed whether the proposed determination need be amended. The court was required to decide this issue on the basis of the conflicting evidence presented and to make a finding in accordance with the weight of evidence. The fact that the court made a finding which was contrary to the testimony of certain witnesses is no different from any other case where the court must decide a case upon conflicting evidence.

With conflicting evidence before it, the court at the suggestion and agreement of counsel agreed to view the premises in question. It was stipulated to by counsel for both parties that the court should view the premises in connection with the evidence (Tr. 13). It appears from the record that the Judge did not intend to view the premises to supply evidence, but merely to aid in the interpretation of the evidence already before the court. The Utah

Supreme Court has indicated that while a view by the court cannot be considered as evidence it would be reticent to upset a finding of a lower court where a view had been had. *Weber Basin Conservancy District v. Moore*, 2 U. 2d 254, 272 P. 2d 176.

We urge that the findings of the lower court in this action should not be disturbed. The Utah Supreme Court in *Silver King Consol. Mining v. Sutton, et al.*, 85 Utah 297, 39 P. 2d 682, speaking through Mr. Justice Folland, announced the following rule:

“This being a suit in equity, it is our duty to examine the evidence, determine its weight, and reach our own conclusions with respect thereto, bearing in mind, however, the rule so often announced by this court that the findings of a trial court will not be disturbed unless we are of the opinion they are against the clear preponderance of the evidence. *Holman v. Christensen*, 73 Utah 389, 274 P. 457. We have in mind also the other rule applicable to this kind of case which casts the burden on one who has discovered subterranean waters and claims such as his own to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is not intercepting the tributaries of appropriated streams or the sources of supply of prior appropriators. *Mountain Lake Mining Irr. Co. v. Midway Irr. Co.*, 47 Utah 346, 149 P. 929, 934; *Midway Irr. Co. v. Snake Creek M. & T. Co. (C. C. A.)* 271 F. 157, affirmed by the Supreme Court of the United States in 260 U. S. 596, 43 S. Ct. 215, 67 L. Ed. 423. We have given special attention to the evidence on account of the circumstances attending the signing of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and decree. These were signed by stamp signature of the judge who tried the cause when was by serious and fatal illness confined to his bed in

a hospital. We are not unmindful of the fact, however, that Judge M. L. Ritchie, before he was stricken, had given the case full and thorough consideration, as indicated by his written memorandum opinion in which he discussed the law and the evidence and directed the drawing of findings, conclusions, and decree, in accordance with his announced decision in favor of the plaintiff.”

The Trial Judge had the opportunity to observe the demeanor of the witnesses on the stand, to examine the evidence of both parties, and observe the land in question. This should lend credit to the findings in the lower court and strongly indicates the findings were not against the clear preponderance of the evidence.

## CONCLUSION

It appears that the only real question before the lower court was whether the appellant established a water right on any land in excess of five acres. The evidence produced by the State Engineer furnished a sound basis upon which the lower court could base its decision that there was no additional water right on the land of appellant. Therefore, the findings and conclusions of the lower court are correct and should be affirmed.